1977

## State of Utah v. Lorraine Hunter : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an appeal from a conviction following a guilty plea to a complaint filed against her under the old section 76-20-8 of the Utah Penal Code (repealed in 1973). The complaint in this matter arose from the purchase of an automobile from Lyle's Used Cars in Ogden, Utah. The Defendant-Appellant paid Lyle's Used Cars an amount of one thousand dollars (\$1000) in cash with the rest of the cost of the car to be financed. The State has alleged in its complaint that Mrs. Hunter made false statements in the credit application which was alleged to have been filled out by her, although the file contains no record whatsoever of said credit application. Defendant-Appellant was charged with obtaining money under false pretenses on September 20, 1973.

## DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Defendant-Appellant, upon the advise of appointed counsel, changed her not guilty plea to guilty and the Honorable John F. Wahlquist, District Court Judge for the Second Judicial District, County of Weber, State of Utah, sentenced her, the Defendant-Appellant, to be placed under the supervision of the Adult Probation Department, one of the conditions of the probation agreement being that Defendant-Appellant should serve a term of sixty days (60) in the Weber County Jail.

Subsequently Defendant-Appellant was returned to the Court for an alleged parole violation and was placed in the custody of the Department of Corrections for a ninety-day (90) evaluation at the Utah State Prison. Upon completion of the evaluation, Defendant-

Appellant left the State of Utah and was subsequently arrested on



or about March 14, 1977, and after having made via counsel a motion in arrest of judgment and for leave to withdraw a plea of guilty, Defendant-Appellant was once again placed in the custody of the Department of Corrections for another ninety day evaluation at the Utah State Prison. The Motion in Arrest of Judgment and for Leave to Withdraw a Plea of Guilty having been denied by the Court, the Honorable John F. Wahlquist, presiding. From this denial of the Motion in Arrest of Judgment and for Leave to Withdraw a Plea of Guilty, the Defendant-Appellant appeals.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about the 31st day of October, 1972, Defendant-Appellant purchased from Lyle's Used Cars in Ogden, Utah, a 1972 Chevrolet Station Wagon, having a total purchase price of \$3,995.00. Defendant-Appellant paid Lyle's Used Cars one thousand dollars in cash at the time of sale and filled out an allegedly false credit application containing allegedly some false representations. A copy of this alleged false credit application cannot be located in the file nor can it be located after further inquiry from the Weber County Attorney or the Weber County Clerk's Office. Subsequent to the sale of the car, Lyle's Used Cars through their agreement with the Bank of Utah was able to obtain financing in the amount of \$2,995.00 plus sales tax and license amounting to a total of \$3,185.00 for which Lyle's Used Cars received a check in that amount from the Bank of Utah.

In due time, Defendant-Appellant received a payment book and notice that she was to pay for the car at the rate of \$107.03 per month for a period of 36 months. Defendant-Appellant obtained

insurance on the automobile as requested by the bank and further made the payments each month for a period of three months. At that time, Defendant-Appellant moved to Las Vegas in order to obtain employment there and because of her non-union status, was unable to find employment in Las Vegas, was unable to obtain welfare because of her non-residence and was thus unable to continue to make payments on the automobile.

On or about the 11th day of July, 1973, the Bank of Utah caused the automobile in question to be repossessed in Las Vegas, Nevada, and further filed a complaint with the Weber County Attorney's Office charging the Defendant-Appellant with obtaining merchandise by false representation, Section 76-20-8, the Utah Code Annotated 1953. The Defendant-Appellant was subsequently arrested in Nevada on a Utah Warrant and extradited to Utah where she was incarcerated in the Weber County Jail on or about the 20th day of September, 1973, and remained incarcerated unable to raise bail, having been refused O.R. release.

The automobile was subsequently returned to Utah and sold by the Bank of Utah.

Defendant-Appellant was arraigned on September 20, 1973, the Court having appointed Maurice Richards Esq. Attorney at Ogden, Utah, as appointed counsel for the Defendant. Defendant-Appellant originally pleaded not guilty. However, upon the advise of her appointed counsel, Defendant changed her plea to guilty on October 15, 1973 and sentencing was set for November 5, 1973. On November 5, 1973, Defendant-Appellant was placed under the supervision of the Adult Probation and Parole Department and was ordered to serve a term of

sixty days in the Weber County Jail. Defendant-Appellant subsequently served 60 days in the Weber County Jail and was released on the 21st day of December, 1973.

Defendant-Appellant was again arrested on or about February 4, 1974 and it was alleged that she had charged some gas at a service station in Ogden, Utah, such being a violation of her probation agreement. However, no probation agreement can be located in the files of this case nor has the Weber County Attorney or the Utah Department of Probation and Parole been able to furnish the same.

Defendant-Appellant was also charged with another petty-crime alleged to have been committed several days after February 4, 1974, and as a result, on February 15, 1974 was ordered committed to the Board of Corrections at the Utah State Prison for a period not to exceed 90 days for an evaluation and study by John F. Wahlquist, Judge of the Second Judicial District Court in and for Weber County.

Defendant-Appellant served 90 days at the Utah State Prison designated as a study and evaluation and upon the completion of this study was released O.R. and the information that is available indicates that she was told that if she would enroll in a nursing course with a goal of becoming a nurse that she would continue to be on her own recognizance and able to properly care for and live with her children. Defendant thus applied for the nurses training course under the auspice of the State of Utah and subsequently received a notification from the nursing school that she would be unacceptable as a student inasmuch as she had been shown to have bad moral character i.e. had been convicted of a felony. Upon learning this Defendant-Appellant in a desperate effort to care for her children

and keep her family unit together, left the State of Utah not to return until 1977, at which time she purchased a home in Bountiful making a substantial down-payment where she lived with and cared for her six minor children, the youngest being less than one year old.

On or about the 14th day of March, 1977, she was arrested by the Weber County authorities and incarcerated in the Weber County Jail. Attempts were made by her attorneys to gain acceptance of an Undertaking of Bond with the Honorable John F. Wahlquist, Judge of the Second Judicial District Court in and for Weber County. However, such Undertaking of Bond was refused and Defendant-Appellant remained incarcerated.

On or about March 21st, 1977, which time was set for sentencing, she was again committed to the Board of Corrections at the Utah State Prison and at the Utah State Hospital for a 90 day psychiatric evaluation, pursuant to the order of District Judge, John F. Wahlquist, and the motions for Arrest of Judgment and for leave to withdraw her guilty plea and substitute a plea of not guilty were denied by the same Court and the Defendant-Appellant was incarcerated at the Utah State Hospital in Provo, Utah, for a period of approximately 45 days until being released on her own recognizance by an order of the Supreme Court of the State of Utah on May 2, 1977.

#### POINT 1

THE LOWER COURT JUDGE ABUSED HIS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO ALLOW A WITHDRAWAL OF A GUILTY PLEA AND A SUBSTITUTION OF A NOT GUILTY PLEA PURSUANT TO A MOTION MADE AT THE HEARING SET FOR IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE AND MOTIONS OF COUNSEL

At a sentencing hearing held March 21, 1977, Defendant-Appellant's attorney made a motion for a Leave to Withdraw a Plea of Guilty and Arrest of Judgment. Such motions were denied by the lower court judge (hearing transcript p. 6).

It has been generally held that one who enters a plea to an accusatory pleading does not have the absolute right to withdraw the plea in order to file another plea. In the absence of a statute otherwise providing granting or refusing of Leave to Withdraw a Plea in a criminal case will rest in the sound discretion of the trial court, subject of course, to review for abuse of discretion. Good cause must always be shown for a change of plea. In other jurisdictions it has been stated that the discretion should always be exercised in favor of innocence and liberty (Lambert vs. State, 245 Miss. 227, 147 S.W. 2d 480; Henning v. State 184 Tenn. 508, 201 S.W. 2d 669).

Colorado Supreme Court in its opinion in the case of Champion vs. People 124 Colo. 253, 236 P.2d 127 (1951) quoted 14 Amer. Jur. Pru. p. 961, Sec. 287:

"As in other cases of discretionary power, no general rule can be laid down as to when a Defendant will be permitted to withdraw his plea. The decision in each case must have been to a great extent on the particular attendant circumstances generally, however, it may be said that the withdrawal of a plea of guilty should not be denied in any case where it is in the least evidence that the ends of justice will be subserved by permitting not guilty to be pleaded in its place. The least surprise of influence causing the Defendant to plead guilty when he has any defense at all should be sufficient grounds for permitting a change of plea from guilty to not guilty. Leave should ordinarily be given to withdraw a plea of guilty if it was entered by mistake or under a misconception of the nature of the charge; through a misunderstanding as to its effect; through fear, fraud, or official misrepresentation; was made involuntarily for any reason; or even where it was entered inadvisably if any reasonable ground is offered for going to the jury."

The Court further quoted 22 C.J.S., Criminal Law sec. 421,  
p. 642:

"Accused should be permitted to withdraw a plea of guilty which is contrary to the truth \*\*\* Also the Court should permit the withdrawal of the plea where it appears that there is doubt of the guilt of the accused \*\*\*."

The Court there went on to quote from an earlier case of Gearhart v. People 113 Colo. 9, 154 P. 2d 47 as follows:

"The discretion thus repose in the court should be exercised liberally in favor of life and liberty, but where it is plain that substantial justice will not be promoted or the substantial rights of Defendant prejudiced the application for leave to withdraw the plea should be denied. "

The State of Montana in the case of State vs. McBane 128 Mont. 369, 275 Pac. 2d 218 (1954) states the following:

"All doubt should be resolved in favor of a trial on its merits."

The court goes on further and quotes part of its opinion the aforementioned quotation from 14 Amer. Jur. Pru. Sec. 287 P. 961.

Utah has a statute governing the withdrawal of guilty pleas found in Section 77-24-3 Utah Code Annotated (1953) which states:

"The Court may at any time before judgment upon a plea of guilty, permit it to be withdrawn and a plea of not guilty substituted."

The language of this statute would seem to impart that leave to withdraw a plea of guilty may be made by a trial court at its discretion subject, of course, to review by a Superior Court. The Attorney General has mentioned that a number of states with similar statutes have held that withdrawal of a guilty plea may be made only before judgment, namely the Arizona

Supreme Court in the State vs. Churton 9 Ariz. App. 16, 448

pac. 2d, 888 (1968); the Iowa Supreme Court in the State vs. Rhinehart case 253 Iowa 1132, 125 N.W. 2d 242, 245 (1963); State vs. Erfurt rendered by the Colorado Supreme Court 157 Colo. 235, 402 Pac. 2d 75,77 (1965) although it should be mentioned that in the McBane and Champion cases cited earlier, the Colorado Supreme Court did in fact grant leave to withdraw a plea of guilty when the facts of the case so mandated its necessity. Also the California Supreme Court in People vs. Grant 16 Cal. App. 3d 27, 93 Cal. Reporter 658 (1971) held that the statute allowed withdrawal of a guilty plea and substitution of a not guilty plea only until the time of judgment. This Court in a previous case State vs. Lee Lim, 79 Utah 68, 7 Pac. 2d 825 (1932) indicates that a plea of guilty may be withdrawn at any time after judgment. The Court in this case states as follows:

"\*\*\*the overwhelming weight of authority is that this provision confers a discretionary power upon the trial court to allow or disallow the change of plea\*\*\* the general rule in the absence of statute is that it is discretionary with the court to permit or to refuse to permit a plea of guilty to be withdrawn for the purpose of interposing a plea of not guilty, and the court's discretion in the matter will not be reversed except for an abuse of discretion."

In this particular case Mr. Lee Lim was charged with murder in the second degree and had entered a plea of guilty and in the course of events had been sentenced to an indeterminate term in prison, which indeterminate sentence was later found to be not authorized by law and for that reason Mr. Lee Lim was to be resentenced. At this time he requested that he be given leave to withdraw his plea of guilty and substitute a plea of not guilty. No showing was made in any manner whatsoever that there was any evidence to indicate that he was not guilty of the crime or that he



had not made a knowledgeable guilty plea nor was there any showing that he had made his guilty plea illadvisedly or without the advise of counsel. The court goes on to state:

"It was not made to appear that the Defendant had entered his plea of guilty in ignorance of his rights or that he was influenced unduly or improperly either by hope or fear or that it was entered by reason of mistake or misapprehension or undue influence. The motion was not supported by any allegations of fact which called for an exercise of discretion favorable to the request. There was no abuse of discretion by the trial court in refusing to permit Defendant to change his plea."

Although no such factors were found in this case, the Court seemed to indicate that if a plea of guilty were entered in ignorance of your rights or if it were influenced unduly or improperly either by hope or fear or if it were entered by mistake or misapprehension or undue influence that the trial court would be obligated to permit a change of plea. Failing such action by the trial court, that the appellate court would over-rule the trial court and allow a change of plea in the interest of justice and liberty and in seeing that Defendant receives the benefit of every constitutional right and guarantee bestowed upon him by the Constitution of the State of Utah and of the United States. .

This court once again in the case of State vs. Plumb 14 Utah 2d 124, 378 Pac. 2d 671 states that it is within the sound discretion of the trial court to determine whether or not to allow withdrawal of a guilty plea, subject to review by a superior court. However, the facts in this case also indicate that Defendant Plumb wished to change his plea after receiving the judgment and sentence from the district judge which was more severe than that which he had originally anticipated.



In the case of State vs. Larsen 560 Pac. 2d 335, Defendant Larsen sought to withdraw a plea of guilty after receiving a jail sentence upon a guilty plea for the possession of marijuana.

In the State of Utah vs. William Forsyth 560 Pac. 2d 337 (1977) Defendant sought to withdraw a guilty plea following plea bargaining with the prosecution which resulted in the dismissal of four counts of a five count indictment against him. This court reviewed that case finding that refusal to allow a change of plea was the discretion of the trial court but that it could be reversed on the basis of abuse of discretion but that in that particular case Defendant was fully aware and had participated in plea bargaining sessions with the prosecution and that pursuant to these negotiations with the presecution, Defendant had freely made the choice, fully informed, without undue influence, to plead guilty. It would seem to be established then, that this court has amply demonstrated on other occasions that it can and will review situations such as the one at bar in which a Defendant seeks to withdraw a plea of guilty and substitute a not guilty plea when the same have been denied such a change of plea by the trial court. Such a denial by the trial court may be over-ruled by this court upon a finding that the trial court abused its discretion

It should be noted that in all of the above and aforementioned cases Defendants do not allege that new evidence has appeared showing that the crime was not committed nor do they allege that they were unduly influenced or under duress or that they were illadvised or that they had no knowledge of the facts upon which the crime as charged was constituted. Rather they seek to withdraw their guilty plea as a result of the imposition of a sentence which

was more severe than that which they had anticipated. Their situation contrasts markedly with the situation of the Defendant-Appellant presently at bar. Although the court in this preceeding does not ordinarily consider evidence, leaving that function to the trial court, it is certainly essential to the consideration of this case that the facts underlying and upon which the crime was charged be presented and it is certainly fundamental to the case that this Court be presented with the facts which have arisen and been brought to light subsequent to the entrance of the plea of guilty and the incarceration of the Defendant-Appellant.

Defendant-Appellant is an uneducated woman, having left school at the age of fifteen years to run away with an older man. She is presently the mother of six children, the youngest being less than two years of age at this writing. She lives in Bountiful in a home which she purchased approximately two years ago.

On the 31st day of October, 1972, she purchased from Lyle's Used Cars in Ogden, Utah, a 1972 Chevrolet Station Wagon having a total price of \$3,995.00. She paid one thousand (\$1,000.00) dollars downpayment filling out an allegedly false credit application, a copy of which I have been unable to locate.

Lyle's Used Cars obtained financing for the balance of the price of the car through the Bank of Utah in the amount of \$2,995.00 plus sales tax and license bringing the total finance to \$3,185.00, which payment was made from Bank of Utah to Lyle's Used Cars.

Defendant subsequently obtained insurance on the automobile and made three payments in the amount of \$107.03 each upon the car, certainly probitive of her intent in purchasing and paying for the

automobile.

She then moved to Nevada where she hoped to obtain work as a waitress in a casino but was precluded from obtaining such due to union contracts in the state and was unable to receive welfare and thus was unable to pay for the car.

It is ironic that at this point, due to the death of her former husband approximately two years earlier that she was eligible for approximately five or six hundred dollars per month in survivor benefit payments to her children but that due to the stubbornness of the Federal bureaucracy of the Social Security system, she was not able to receive such payments until 1975, at which time she received a lump sum payment which was used as a downpayment on her home. Had she been receiving these Social Security payments which were the right of the children and herself in 1972 and 1973 as she should have been, it is doubtful that she would have had this problem and would have been able to make the payments on the automobile as intended.

Because she was unable to find work, she was unable to make such automobile payments and in approximately July 1973, the automobile in question was repossessed in Las Vegas, Nevada, with Bank of Utah causing a complaint to be filed against her in Weber County, Utah. She was arrested in Nevada and extradited to Utah and incarcerated in the Weber County Jail, to be held without bond. Subsequent to that time, she has spent approximately nine months in the jails and prisons of the State of Utah. The following information was unknown to her inasmuch as she had no way to discern it and also apparently was not known to her attorney at the time she changed her plea to guilty and was sentenced.

However, from the records of the Bank of Utah, the following has been learned and it certainly would seem to be significant in terms of whether the Defendant was guilty of the crime of which she was charged.

Bank of Utah records show that a check was issued in the amount of \$3,185.00 to Lyle's Used Cars. After the repossession of the car, the Bank of Utah received a high bid in the amount of \$3,055.00, at which price the automobile was sold. Subtracting \$3,055.00 from \$3,185.00 leaves the bank with a \$130.00 loss.

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