1977

# State of Utah v. Lorraine Hunter : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

#### UTAH STATUTORY LAW PRECLUDES THE WITHDRAWAL OF A GUILTY PLEA AFTER JUDGMENT.

Appellant pleaded guilty to a charge of obtaining merchandise by false representation in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-20-8 (1953), on October 15, 1973 (R. 13). Judgment was entered in November 5, 1973 (R. 14). On March 21, 1977, some 4 and 1/3 years later, appellant through counsel filed a Motion in Arrest of Judgment and For Leave to Withdraw Plea of Guilty (R. 36). Said motion was denied (Transcript of Hearing for Imposition of Sentence), and this appeal was filed subsequently by appellant (R. 41).

Before addressing the merits of appellant's motion in Points II and IV, respondent respectfully submits that pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 77-24-3 (1953), appellant is precluded from withdrawing her plea of guilty. The statute states in part:

"The court may at any time before judgment, upon a plea of guilty, permit it to be withdrawn and a plea of not guilty substituted." (Emphasis added)

Unless the emphasized portion of the above statute is disregarded or considered superfluous, the plain impact of its language is to allow guilty pleas to be withdrawn only before

judgment. Similarly, Section 77-34-1, Utah Code Ann. (1953) also precludes appellant's Motion in Arrest of Judgment. That particular section states in part:

"The motion in arrest of judgment must be made before or at the time the defendant is called for judgment." (Emphasis added).

Seemingly, then, without further consideration of the merits of appellant's motion, such an attempt to have the judgment arrested and guilty plea withdrawn and substitute with a not guilty plea should be dismissed as untimely. Further discussion and review of similar statutes in other states (infra) support respondent's view.

The Utah Supreme Court has reviewed on several occasions cases in which defendants have attempted to withdraw guilty pleas following judgment, but has addressed itself to issues involving abuse of discretion rather than to the issue of untimeliness of the motion itself.

In State v. Lee Lim, 79 Utah 68, 7 P.2d 825 (1932), the defendant entered a plea of guilty to the charge of murder in the second degree and was sentenced to an indeterminate term of imprisonment in the Utah State Prison. The defendant was released on a writ of habeas corpus because the indeterminate sentence was not authorized by law. Upon his release, the defendant was immediately arrested and returned to the district court for the

imposition of a proper sentence. The defendant objected to the jurisdiction of the district court, and without waiving that objection, insisted on withdrawing his former plea of guilty as a matter of right. The district court denied the motion, and sentenced the defendant according to law. The Utah Supreme Court affirmed on appeal in a lengthy opinion directed largely to the question of the district court's jurisdiction. On the issue of withdrawal of the guilty plea, the Court stated that the statute was permissive and not mandatory, that the trial court's refusal to allow withdrawal would only be reversed upon a showing of an abuse of discretion, and that no abuse had been shown. The question of the timeliness of the motion was not addressed, presumably because the initial sentence was held void and the motion was therefore "before judgment."

In State v. Plum, 14 Utah 2d 124, 378 P.2d 671 (1963), this Court considered the question of whether a lower court had committed error in refusing to allow a defendant to withdraw a plea of guilty after sentence had been pronounced. This Court concluded that an abuse of discretion had not been shown and affirmed the lower court. On the question of whether the motion had been timely made, the Court stated:

"Were it not for the holding in State v. Lee Lim, supra, it would be the writer's personal opinion that coram nobis should be the court remedy in Utah. (See State v. Telavera, 76 Ariz. 183, 261 P.2d 997, and People v. Wade, 53 Cal. 2d 322, 1 Cal. Rptr. 683, 348 P.2d 116)." 378 P.2d at 672

Judge Jones did not state why he felt the Lee Lim decision controlled the result in Plum.

In Egan v. Turner, 28 Utah 2d 143, 499 P.2d 286 (1972), defendant appealed to this Court from a decision of the District Court denying his petition for a writ of habeas corpus. In his petition, he alleged that the trial court had erred by refusing to permit him to change his plea after sentence had been pronounced. Defendant contended among other things that he had asked his counsel to request the trial court to permit him to change his plea to one of not guilty. In dismissing defendant's claim, this Court was unable to address itself to the issue of timeliness of such a request due to the fact that the record did not reveal whether defendant had applied to the trial court for permission to withdraw his guilty plea either before or after sentence was pronounced.

Subsequently, in State v. Garfield, 552 P.2d 129 (Utah 1976), this Court again had the opportunity to

address itself to the issue of whether a motion to withdraw a guilty plea is untimely if made subsequent to judgment. The Court again refused to allow such a change of plea following sentencing, but on the grounds that an abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court had not been shown.

The final two cases which have been heard by this Court involving motions to set aside guilty pleas following sentencing were State v. Soper, 559 P.2d 951 (Utah 1977), and State v. Harris, 585 P.2d 450 (Utah 1978). In Soper, the defendant became involved in a plea bargaining process between himself and two separate jurisdictions within the State. There occurred a breach of the plea bargain in one jurisdiction, but this breach was not called to the attention of his defense counsel or the court in either jurisdiction until some eight months after the breach occurred and five months following sentencing. The Supreme Court dismissed the appellant's contentions, but again on the grounds that no abuse of discretion had been shown. The Court did add however that one seeking to set aside a final order such as a sentence in a criminal case has the burden of producing convincing proof of a fact which constitutes a legal ground for setting aside such a sentence:

"A motion to set aside a plea after sentencing is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court. Unless the allegations and



proof of facts have the effect of requiring the trial court, as a matter of law, to grant the motion, no abuse of discretion has been shown." 599 P.2d at 953, 954. (Emphasis added).

In Harris, supra, defendant's attempt to withdraw his guilty plea following an unfavorable sentence was rejected by this Court on the basis that no abuse of discretion had been shown in the trial court's refusal to grant the defendant's motion.

From an examination of the above authorities, it appears that the question of the timeliness of a motion to withdraw a plea of guilty after judgment and sentence has never been squarely put to this Court, nor has this Court ever held that a motion to withdraw a plea of guilty after judgment was properly granted.

Respondent therefore urges this Court to accept the rule embodied in Utah Code Ann. § 77-24-3 (1953), and to deny appellant's request to withdraw her plea of guilty as not timely. To do so would be in line with several courts of other states which have held that statutes similar to Utah's only allow withdrawal of guilty pleas before judgment. State v. Churton, 9 Ariz. App. 16, 448 P.2d 888 (1968); State v. Rinehart, 253 Iowa 1132, 125 N.W.

2d 242, 245 (1963); McConnell v. People, 157 Colo. 235, 402 P.2d 75, 77 (1965); and People v. Grand, 16 Cal. App. 3rd 27, 93 Cal. Rptr. 658 (1971).

Appellant cites two Colorado cases in support of her argument. Champion v. People, 124 Colo. 253, 236 P.2d 127 (1951); Gearhart v. People, 113 Colo. 9, 154 P.2d 47 (1944). It should be noted that in Gearhart, a motion for leave to withdraw a plea of guilty was denied. In the Champion case, the Colorado Supreme Court allowed defendant's guilty plea to be withdrawn because, among other reasons, defendant was not represented by counsel when he pled guilty, he did not understand the nature of the charges brought against him, and he did not understand the significance of pleading guilty. In 1964, however, in the case of Glaser v. People, 155 Colo. 504, 395 P.2d 461 (1964), the Colorado Supreme Court held that Rule 32(e) of the Colorado Rules of Criminal Procedure prohibited the withdrawal of a guilty plea after sentencing.<sup>1</sup> The implication of

---

1 Rule 32(e) of the Colorado Rules of Criminal Procedure provides as follows:

" . . . A motion to withdraw a plea of guilty . . . may be made only before sentence is imposed or imposition of sentence is suspended."

this Rule was again upheld in the later cases of McConnell v. People, supra; Bradley v. People, 485 P.2d 875 (Colo. 1971); and People v. Banks, 545 P.2d 1356 (Colo. 1976). In Banks the Court specifically held that a motion to withdraw a plea of guilty is addressed to the sound discretion of the court where the motion to withdraw is filed before sentencing. The Court, quoting from Glaser v. People, supra, reasoned as follows:

"'[t]here is no ambiguity in the rule [Crim. P. 32(e)] as adopted by this court. In plain language it says that a motion to withdraw a plea of guilty may be made only before sentence is imposed. Trial courts accept pleas of guilty to crimes after assurance that the defendant understands the consequences of that plea. The rule contended for by counsel for defendant would require that defendant also be satisfied with, and approve of, the consequences actually imposed by the court. . . ."

Examination of the cases heretofore cited, as well as a plain and simple reading of Utah Code Ann. § 77-24-3 (1953), leads to one inescapable conclusion - that finality of judgments should be accorded recognition and an accused should not be allowed to gamble with the Court's time and power. An accused should not be permitted to withdraw a guilty plea simply because the consequences turn out to be less favorable than when the plea was voluntarily and

intelligently made, particularly when the plea was tendered well over four years earlier. Respondent thus submits that the motion tendered by appellant in the case at bar was properly denied as untimely, and asks that this Court so hold.

#### POINT II

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS  
DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO ALLOW  
APPELLANT TO WITHDRAW HER GUILTY  
PLEA.

Appellant, having pled guilty to the offense with which she had been charged and thereby sentenced, returned involuntarily to the District Court approximately four and one-third years later and sought to withdraw her guilty plea. She has seemingly taken a "shotgun" approach in stating the grounds by which she feels her guilty plea should be withdrawn and a not guilty plea substituted. In her brief, she makes a flat allegation that the trial court abused its discretion in denying her motion, but does not give any specific examples or incidents as to how or why she may have been prejudiced. She does allege in Points II and III of her brief that she was denied effective assistance of counsel and that her plea was illicit through duress. Quite a substantial portion of her argument alleges that "new evidence" has been uncovered, which, if known at the time of her plea, may have provided her with a defense to the crime to which she pleaded guilty.

Appellant has more or less "lumped" her allegations together without giving specific examples or details of her alleged points of error. Respondent will, however, attempt to treat each allegation separately as far as possible for the sake of expedience, clarity, and hopefully the convenience of this Court.

Appellant has alleged that her motion to withdraw her guilty plea should have been granted by the lower court, and in so refusing there existed an abuse of discretion. The law in Utah is extremely clear on this point. As far back as 1932 when this Court decided State v. Lee Lim, 79 Utah 68, 7 P.2d 825 (1932), the position of this Court has consistently been that a motion to withdraw a plea of guilty is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's decision can only be reversed where an abuse of discretion has been demonstrated. State v. Larson, 560 P.2d 335 (Utah, 1977), State v. Forsyth, 560 P.2d 337 (Utah 1977). This principle has recently been reaffirmed by this Court in the case of State v. Harris, 585 P.2d 450 (Utah 1978).<sup>2</sup>

---

2 For other cases holding that Utah Code Ann. § 77-24-3 (1953) confere a discretionary power upon the trial court to allow or disallow the change of a plea, and such discretion will not be interfered with unless an abuse is shown, see the following: State v. Yeck, 566 P.2d 1248 (Utah 1977); State v. Olafson, 567 P.2d 156 (Utah 1977); State v. Gotschall, 570 P.2d 1029 (Utah 1977); State v. Garfield, 552 P.2d 129 (Utah 1976).

In determining whether this Court will find that a trial court has abused its discretion in denying a motion to set aside a judgment and allow a guilty plea to be withdrawn, a test has been set forth. In State v. Soper, 559 P.2d 951 (Utah 1977), the Utah Supreme Court, in denying petitioner's claim that his motion to vacate his plea of guilty should have been sustained, held that no abuse of discretion claim will be upheld unless facts are presented, which, as a matter of law, require that the trial court grant such a motion:

"A sentence in a criminal case is a final judgment, and one seeking to set aside such a final order has the burden of producing convincing proof of a fact which constitutes a legal ground for setting aside such a sentence. A motion to set aside a plea after sentencing is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court. Unless the allegations and proof of facts have the effect of requiring the trial court, as a matter of law, to grant the motion, no abuse of discretion has been shown." 559 P.2d at 953, 954. (Emphasis added).

The Soper case is significant in that it parallels the case at bar in two respects: (1) in Soper the defendant remained silent, not moving for his guilty plea to be withdrawn until nine months after the plea was entered, and five months after sentencing. In the present case, appellant remained silent well over four years following her guilty plea and sentencing; (2) in both Soper and the present case

the motions to withdraw guilty pleas were made after sentencing.

It thus follows from Soper that appellant must allege and set forth facts which, as a matter of law, would require granting of her motion to vacate the guilty plea. Such a burden rests entirely upon her shoulders, and there is nothing in the record to substantiate her allegations of an abuse of discretion by the trial court.

It is noteworthy that this Court in Soper, when referring to the portion of its opinion wherein the burden of producing facts constituting legal grounds for setting aside judgments is placed on the petitioner, uses the term "convincing proof" in describing such facts. Perhaps a degree of proof such as "convincing" or "clear and convincing" is required. See People v. Cruz, 116 Cal. Rptr. 242, 526 P.2d 250 (1974). Be that as it may, appellant has not met such a standard, nor has appellant carried the burden of producing any facts to substantiate her allegations as required by State v. Soper, supra, and State v. Larson, supra.

In order for appellant's motion for withdrawal of her guilty plea to have been granted, it would seem that the plea itself must be made to appear void or defective because of one of the reasons set forth in State v. Plum, supra:

"It has not been made to appear that the accused entered his plea of guilty in ignorance of his rights, or that he was immature or illiterate, or that he was influenced unduly or improperly either by hope or fear, or that his plea was entered by reason of mistake, misapprehension or undue influence. . . ." 378 P.2d at 673.

The record does not substantiate a claim by appellant based upon any of the foregoing reasons. In her brief, she has alleged no facts tending to show an abuse of discretion.

A.

THERE HAS BEEN NO SHOWING, THAT  
APPELLANT'S PLEA WAS INVOLUNTARY.

There have been no facts set forth by appellant in the record which would indicate that her plea of guilty was anything but voluntarily and intelligently given. The record indicates that, having been advised of her rights by Judge Wahlquist, appellant pleaded guilty (R. 13). She had pleaded not guilty five days earlier (R. 12). Her plea of guilty was apparently entered with the understanding that the prosecutor would recommend probation at the sentencing hearing. The court sentenced appellant to serve 60 days in jail and thereafter to be placed on probation. The plea bargain was fulfilled, and appellant does not challenge her guilty plea on the basis that the plea bargain was breached.

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